STATE OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

08-18-2014

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014 AP 365-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs. Brown

Brown County Case No. 2013 CF 165

DAVID E. HULL.

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A NON-FINAL ORDER ENTERED IN BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HON. KENDALL M. KELLEY, PRESIDING

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Attorney Rick B. Meier State Bar # 1019531

Ellis Street Law Office

208 Ellis Street (Upper)
P.O. Box 215
Kewaunee, WI 54216
Phone (920) 606-7166
Facsimile (920) 388-2323

Email: rickbmeier@yahoo.com

Attorney for David E. Hull Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the application of Wis. Stat. § 970.038 to this case violate the federal constitution's prohibitions against *ex post facto* laws where the alleged crime took place over a year prior to the enactment and effective date of the new hearsay rule?

The circuit court answered "No." <u>See</u> R. 30, Decision and Order, App. at 101, 103-105. The Wisconsin Supreme Court's recent decision in *O'Brien* does not address this issue. <u>See</u> State v. *O'Brien*, 2014 WI 54, 2014 Wisc. LEXIS 463.

2. Did the court commissioner err by terminating the preliminary hearing prior to allowing Hull to subpoena the alleged victim to testify thereby violating Hull's statutory right under Wis. Stat. § 970.03(5) to cross-exam witnesses against him, to call witness and present evidence on his own behalf, and to test the plausibility of the state's probable cause showing?

The circuit court answered "No." R. 30; App. at 105-107.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Hull is charged with first-degree sexual assault of a child (SJH, DOB 10/21/1996) with the use of force, and second degree sexual assault of the same alleged victim.

R. 2 (criminal complaint); App. at 108. Hull faces a mandatory minimum sentence of twenty five years of initial incarceration if convicted. *Id*.

SJH claims that in February, 2011, she was forcibly sexually assaulted by Hull in a hotel room while her father was in the same room, and sleeping in the "next bed." She claims she may have been drugged. App. 109. See also SJH's written statement (R. 13); App. at 118-119.

SJH then waited until January, 2012, to report that she had been sexually assaulted. R. 13; App. at 109. The state then did not file a criminal complaint until February, 2013. *Id.* In the meantime, Wis. Stat. § 970.038, which allows hearsay evidence to be admitted at preliminary hearings, was enacted on April 12, 2012, and became effective on April 27, 2012. See 2011 Wis. Act. 285, and Wis. Stat. § 991.11.

Hull subpoenaed (R. 26) SJH to the first scheduled preliminary hearing in anticipation that the state would attempt to rely upon hearsay evidence to obtain a bind over. However, the preliminary hearing could not be held because SJH was in the hospital as a result of a suicide attempt. R. 39 at 2.

Subsequently, the state filed a "Motion To Quash Subpoena." R. 8. The gist of the state's motion was that the defense was calling SJH for "discovery." *Id.* The state also posited that requiring SJH to testify would cause her trauma, and "...re-victimization." R. 8 at 2; R. 40 at 4. The defense filed a brief in opposition thereto raising several constitutional challenges to Wis. Stat. § 970.038, and an addendum raising an *ex post facto* challenge to the application of Wis. Stat. § 970.038 to this case. ¹ R. 9 & 10.

At a hearing scheduled to address these issues the court commissioner seemed to believe that he could stop a preliminary hearing without allowing the defense to call witnesses once the state had made its showing of probable cause. R. 40 at 12; App. at 111. The court commissioner also indicated that he would need an offer of proof before allowing the defense to call a witness. R. 40 at 22; App. at

¹ The Wisconsin Supreme Court has now ruled that Wis. Stat. § 970.038 is constitutional, thereby resolving all but the *ex post facto* claims made by Hull in this case. *State v. O'Brien*, 2014 WI 54, 2014 Wisc. LEXIS 463. Thus, only Hull's *ex post facto* claim remains to be determined by this court.

113. Trial counsel asked whether the court commissioner was finding that the victim's testimony was irrelevant? The court commissioner responded that: "It's duplicative for the determination." R. 40 at 23. App. at 114.

The court commissioner determined that at the next hearing he would allow Hull to request an adjournment to subpoena a witness if Hull could make "some showing" of a need for another witness. R. 40 at 26; App. at 117.²

At the outset of the preliminary hearing the court commissioner ruled that there was no *ex post facto* violation because § 970.038 does not alter the rules of evidence required for conviction. R. 41 at 5-6; App. at 123-24.

The state then called as its only witness Detective Bradley Linzmeier of the Green Bay Police Department. R. 41 at 6; App. at 124 following. Detective Linzmeier had never spoken to SJH. R. 41 at 18, App. at 137. Linzmeier testified that he read SJH's statement, which was obtained by an Ashwaubenon police officer. He testified that the investigation initially started in Ashwaubenon as there was some "...misunderstanding of exactly where the incident took place." R. 41 at 7; App. at 125.

In addition to his constitutional and hearsay objections, Hull objected to the admission of the written statement on the grounds that under Wis. Stats. § 906.02, the officer had no personal knowledge of SJH's written statement (R. 13) or that she signed it. R. 41 at 10-11. App. at 128-29. SJH's written statement (R. 13) is in the Appendix at 118-19.

² The court commissioner ultimately found that § 970.038 is constitutional and that he would allow ".... the state to proceed with presenting hearsay testimony." R. 40 at 21-2; App. at 112-13.

Det. Linzmeier testified that he interviewed Hull, and that Hull denied SJH's allegations. R. 41 at 14; App. at 132.

The defense offered into evidence a letter (R. 15, App. at 149), from its investigator. R. 41 at 21-2. The letter was admitted into evidence. R. 41 at 30. This letter indicates that SJH's mother refused to allow a defense investigator to interview SJH. R. 15; App. at 149.

At the conclusion of this hearing it was determined that the matter would be continued to allow Hull to call SJH's father as a witness. The court commissioner stated that he would determine whether a further hearing would be scheduled to allow Hull to call SJH as a witness. R. 41 at 29-30; App. at 147-48.

At the continued preliminary hearing, SJH's father was asked if he believed he was so intoxicated that he would have slept as his daughter screamed that she was being raped? The father testified that: "I can't believe that I would have, no." R. 42 at 12. He testified that his daughter did not tell him that Hull touched her, but she did tell him that Hull tried to wake her up. R. 42 at 14.

At the conclusion of the father's testimony Hull requested that the matter be continued to allow him to call SJH as a witness. R. 42 at 20; App. at 150. The court commissioner ruled that SJH's testimony was no longer relevant, and held that:

So, I mean, I have heard enough evidence in this case to determine, I guess, for the probable cause standard that I have to find here today, that there is probable cause to believe that Mr. Hull committed a felony offense...So I will bind him over for trial...

R. 42 at 24; App. at 154.

After the preliminary hearings, but prior to arraignment, Hull filed a Motion to Dismiss the Information raising all of his previous objections and constitutional claims. R. 23. After hearing oral arguments (R. 44), and after the issues were briefed by both parties, the circuit court entered a written order denying the Motion to Dismiss. R. 30; App. at 101.

The circuit court ruled that there was no *ex post* facto violation because the new hearsay statute does not alter any rule of evidence at trial, and because preliminary hearings are a statutory creation the only purpose of which is for the state to establish probable cause. App. at 103-05.

The circuit court held that the court commissioner correctly held that Hull could not subpoen SJH because her testimony was not relevant to plausibility but instead would amount to discovery. App. at 105-07.

I. THE APPLICATION OF § 970.038 TO THIS CASE VIOLATES THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION'S PROHIBITION AGAINST EX POST FACTO LAWS.

The defendants in *State v. O'Brien* did not raise an *ex post facto* challenge to the application of Wis. Stat. § 970.038 to their case despite the fact that the criminal investigation against the two O'Brien defendants began in 2011. *State v. O'Brien*, 2013 WI App. 97, ¶ 6, 349 Wis. 2d 667, 836 N.W.2d 840, 2013 Wisc. App. LEXIS 586. The Wisconsin Supreme Court's recent decision in *O'Brien* does not address this issue. See *State v. O'Brien*, 2014 WI 54, 2014 Wisc. LEXIS 463. Thus, it is respectfully suggested that this court needs to rule on whether or not § 970.038 was properly applied to the preliminary hearing in this case for the purpose of allowing the state to obtain a bind-over premised upon nothing but double hearsay evidence allegedly obtained from SJH.

A circuit court's decision to allow the admission of

evidence is usually a matter of the circuit court's discretion, but whether or not the admission of evidence violates a defendant's constitutional rights presents a question of law subject to this court's independent review. *State v. O'Brien*, 2013 WI App. 97, ¶ 8; citing, *State v. Jensen*, 2007 WI 26, ¶ 12, 299 Wis. 2d 267, 727 N.W.2d 518.

Both the state and federal constitutions prohibit ex post facto laws. See Wis. Const. Art. 1, § 12; U.S. Const. Art. I, § 9, cl. 3 and Art. I, § 10.3 However, Wisconsin's ex post facto clause pertains only to laws which: (1) punishes as a crime any act not criminal when committed; (2) increases the punishment for a crime after its commission; and (3) deprives a defendant of a defense available at the time of the alleged commission of the crime. See State v. Haines, 2003 WI 39, ¶ 9, 261 Wis. 2d 139, 661 N.W.2d 72, 2003 Wisc. LEXIS 403 (citation Therefore, at the preliminary hearing, and in omitted). his Motion To Dismiss, Hull asserted that the application of Wis. Stat. § 970.038 to his case violated the ex post facto clauses in the federal constitution. R. 10; R. 27. Hull also raised this issue and argued it on the record. R. 40 at 7 following.

Hull's *ex post facto* objection is premised upon *Peugh v. United States*, 133 S. Ct. 2072, 186 L. Ed. 2d 84, 2013 LEXIS 4359 (Decided, June 10, 2013). In *Peugh* the court wrote:

The Constitution prohibits both federal and state governments from enacting any "ex post facto Law." Art. I, §9, cl. 3; Art. I, §10. The phrase "ex post facto law' was a term of art with an established meaning at

³ Wis. Const. Art. 1, § 12 provides that: "No bill of attainder, ex post facto law, nor any law impairing the obligation of contracts, shall ever be passed, and no conviction shall work corruption of blood or forfeiture of estate."

the time of the framing." *Collins v. Youngblood, 497 U. S. 37, 41, 110 S. Ct. 2715, 111 L. Ed. 2d 30 (1990).* In *Calder v. Bull,* Justice Chase reviewed the definition that the term had acquired in English common law:

"1st. Every law that makes an action done before the passing of the law, and which was innocent when done, criminal; and punishes such action. 2d. Every law that aggravates a crime, or makes it greater than it was, when committed. 3d. Every law that changes the punishment, and inflicts a greater punishment, than the law annexed to the crime, when committed. 4th. Every law that alters the legal rules of evidence, and receives less, or different, testimony, than the law required at the time of the commission of the offence, in order to convict the offender." 3 Dall., at 390, 3 U. S. 386, 1 L. Ed. 648.

Peugh, 133 S. Ct. at 2081, <u>citing Calder v. Bull</u>, 3 Dall. 386, 390, 3 U.S. 386, 1 L. Ed. 648 (1798); and *Carmell v. Texas*, 529 U. S. 513, 521-525, 120 S. Ct. 1620, 146 L. Ed. 2d 577 (2000)(emphasis deleted, emphasis added).

The fourth category of *ex post facto* laws set forth above (in bold) is applicable in this case. Obviously, § 970.038 "... alters the legal rules of evidence..." applicable when Hull allegedly assaulted SJH. However, the court commissioner held that *Calder* did not apply because § 970.038 does not pertain to convicting Mr. Hull at trial. R. 41 at 4-6; App. at 122-24.. The circuit court came to the same legal conclusion. App. at 103-05.

The fourth category of *ex post facto* laws described by *Calder* doesn't mention "trials," its scope is more broad, and its language is clear and unambiguous. Under

Wisconsin's rules of criminal procedure the only way for the state ultimately to obtain a conviction is to first establish probable cause at the preliminary hearing. See Wis. Stats. § 970.03. The state did rely on § 970.038 to obtain a bind over - SJH did not testify. Given that the date of the alleged offense is long before the enactment § 970.038, the application of the statute to the preliminary hearing in this case presents a clear *ex post facto* violation.

In *Peugh* the court wrote that:

Our holding today is consistent with basic principles of fairness that animate the Ex Post Facto Clause. The Framers considered ex post facto laws to be "contrary to the first principles of the social compact and to every principle of sound legislation." The Federalist No. 44, p. 282 (C. Rossiter ed. 1961) (J. Madison). The Clause ensures that individuals have fair warning of applicable laws and guards against vindictive legislative action. See Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 28-29, 101 S. Ct. 960, 67 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1981); see also *post*, at 11-13. Even where these concerns are not directly implicated, however, the Clause also safeguards "a fundamental fairness interest . . . in having the government abide by the rules of law it establishes to govern the circumstances under which it can deprive a person of his or her liberty or life." Carmell, 529 U.S., at 533, 120 S. Ct. 1620, 146 L. Ed. 2d 577.

Peugh, 133 S. Ct. at 2084-85.

At the time SJH claims she was assaulted by Hull she would have had to testify at a preliminary hearing in order for the state to establish probable cause. The state should have to abide by the laws in place as of the date of

allegations in the criminal complaint.

Thus, this court should rule that Wis. Stat. § 970.038 cannot be relied upon by the state in this case to obtain a bind-over at a preliminary hearing. And this court should remand this case with instructions that a new preliminary hearing be held under the laws in place at the time of the alleged commission of the offense.

II. THE COURT COMMISSIONER IMPROPERLY TERMINATED THE PRELIMINARY HEARING AND PREVENTED THE DEFENSE FROM SUBPOENAING THE ALLEGED VICTIM AS A DEFENSE WITNESS.

Below the court commissioner simply stopped the preliminary hearing after finding he had heard enough evidence to make a probable cause finding.⁴ The court commissioner did not adjourn and continue the preliminary hearing so that Hull could subpoena and call SJH as a defense witness. R. 42 at 24; App. at 154. For its part the circuit court relied upon § 970.038 and the court of appeals' *OBrien* decision in finding that the court commissioner's actions in this regard were proper. R. 30; App. at 105-07.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has affirmed a defendant's right to compulsory process at a preliminary hearing. *O'Brien*, 2014 WI 54, ¶ 34. The court ruled that § 970.038 does not prevent defendants from calling witnesses. *Id.* At ¶ 35. The court explicitly ruled that:

Counsel retains the ability to cross-examine the witnesses presented by the State, challenge the plausibility of the charges against the defendant, argue that elements are not met, and present witnesses on behalf of the defendant. Wis. Stat. § 970.03.

9

O'Brien, 2014 WI 54, ¶ 43.5 The court emphasized that:

Like the court of appeals, "[w]e reject any implication in the prosecution's arguments before the trial court that the enactment of 970.038 somehow limited the defense's ability to call or cross-examine witnesses at the preliminary examination." O'Brien, 34 Wis. 2d 667, ¶21.

O'Brien, 2014 WI 54, ¶ 34

The *O'Brien* decision does hold that the statutory right to call a witness is "not an unrestricted right," and that a subpoena may be quashed or evidence excluded if it is not relevant. *O'Brien*, 2014 WI 54, ¶ 37.

The court in *O'Brien* writes that:

Counsel's statements at the preliminary examination reveal that Martin O'Brien sought to subpoena S.M.O., a child witness, for purposes of discovery. When asked for a proffer as to what S.M.O. would testify about, counsel for Martin O'Brien responded that Investigator Domino's statements were a summary and did not necessarily tell the whole story. Counsel suggested that the

All witnesses shall be sworn and their testimony reported by a phonographic reporter. The defendant may cross-examine witnesses against the defendant, and may call witnesses on the defendant's own behalf who then are subject to cross-examination.

⁵ Wis. Stat. § 970.03(5) provides that:

victim's statements could have been taken out of context. She explained that the complete story could reveal that certain actions were not intentional. However, she indicated that the victim may not contradict Investigator Domino's testimony, stating "I don't really know." Absent any idea what S.M.O. would testify to, counsel's proffer was insufficient to show that S.M.O.'s testimony would be relevant to the probable cause inquiry.

O'Brien, 2014 WI 54, ¶ 38. Thus, the circuit court found that Mr. O'Brien's lawyer failed to establish that the testimony she sought to introduce would be relevant. Id. at ¶ 39.

Here, Hull explained to the court commissioner at length, in writing, why SHJ's testimony was relevant to the probable cause determination:

Plainly, the alleged victim's testimony is relevant to the determination of probable cause, which includes the plausibility of the alleged victim's claims. The alleged victim claims that in February, 2011, she was forcibly sexually assaulted by defendant in a hotel room while her father was in the same room, sleeping in the "next bed." She claims she may have been drugged. She claims that after she was sexually assaulted that the defendant threw her on the other bed, and then apparently went to sleep. She claims that she told her dad the next day that defendant "...was acting really weird and he was touching her." The alleged victim notes that "...her dad did not believe her." See Complaint at 2-3. Then, according to the complaint, the victim waited for one year, until February 27, 2012, to

report that she had been forcefully sexually assaulted by a man, whom as to her, is a stranger (she claims defendant is a friend of her dad's but apparently had otherwise never meet defendant). It is implausible that a victim of a forcible sexual assault by a stranger would not run away from the scene of the crime and/or report the crime immediately.

The alleged victim's appearance at the preliminary hearing is necessary so that, in addition to the important functions of counsel outlined above in Coleman, counsel can test the plausibility of the alleged victim's allegations. For example, did the victim scream for help when she was assaulted? Did she run out of the room after she was assaulted and ask for help? Did she have her cell phone with her? Did defendant prevent her from calling for help, waking up her dad, or leaving the hotel room? Did she have sperm on her person, or her clothes? Did she have marks or contusions from the force defendant allegedly used upon her? Were those marks or contusions visible to others? Did she show those marks or contusions to her dad when he said he didn't believe her? Why did she allegedly tell her dad that defendant "touched" her as opposed to telling him that defendant allegedly raped her? What was her reason for waiting one year to report that a total stranger raped her, et cetera?

The foregoing questions and similar questions must be put to alleged victim, and answered by her. A non-witness reading from a report cannot answer these questions which pertain to plausibility. Upon cross-examination the alleged victim's

account is likely to be shown to be implausible, and without more, insufficient to support a finding of probable cause. However, if the court prevents the defense from subpoening the alleged victim, then the plausibility of her account will never be tested prior to the probable cause determination.

R. 9 at 4-5. <u>See also</u>: Trial counsel's proffer argument at App. 144 following.

Thus, SJH's testimony would have been relevant to both challenging the states purported showing of probable cause and the plausibility of SJH's allegations. Both the court commissioner and the circuit court erred in preventing Hull from calling SJH as a defense witness because:

Testing the plausibility of the witness's statement still implicates adversarial testing. *Wisconsin Stat.* § 970.03(5) remains unchanged.

O'Brien, 2014 WI 54, ¶ 53. Yet, Hull never had the opportunity to challenge probable cause or test the plausibility of SJH's allegations.

In effect, there has been no preliminary hearing in this case. SJH's written statement is just a handwritten version of the probable cause section of the criminal complaint. (Compare R. 2, App. at 118-19 to R. R. 13; App. at 118-19). The fact that Det. Linzmeier read SJH's statement and then testified as to what it says adds nothing to the analysis. At best, the preliminary hearing that Hull did get was reduced to farce just as anticipated by the dissent in *O'Brien*. *O'Brien*, 2014 WI 54, ¶ 84 (Abrahamson, Shirley, C.J., dissenting).

CONCLUSION

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