### **RECEIVED**

09-22-2014

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014AP365-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID E. HULL,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A NON-FINAL ORDER, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BROWN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE KENDALL M. KELLEY, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1740 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) oneilar@doj.state.wi.us

###

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

### **ARGUMENT**

I. HULL HAS NOT DEMON-STRATED THAT WIS. STAT. § 970.038 IS AN EX POST FACTO LAW AS APPLIED TO HIM.

# A. Standard of review and applicable law.

Article I, § 10 of the United States Constitution provides that "[n]o state shall ... pass any ... ex post facto law." Similarly, art. I § 12 of the Wisconsin Constitution states that "[n]o ... ex post facto law ... shall ever be passed."

Laws are presumed constitutional, and a defendant claiming a law violates the expost facto clauses of the United States or Wisconsin Constitutions must prove this beyond a reasonable doubt. See State ex rel. Singh v. Kemper, 2014 WI App 43, ¶ 9, 353 Wis. 2d 520, 846 N.W.2d 820 (citing Bostco LLC v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist., 2013 WI 78, ¶ 76, 350 Wis. 2d 554, 835 N.W.2d 160, and *Chappy v. LIRC*, 136 Wis. 2d 172, 184–85, 401 N.W.2d 568 (1987)); State v. Post, 197 Wis. 2d 279, 301, 541 N.W.2d 115 (1995). This court must indulge every presumption favoring the statute's validity. Post, 197 Wis. 2d at 301. This court reviews challenges to the constitutionality of a statute de novo. Id.

Hull's brief explains that he is challenging Wis. Stat. § 970.038 under the ex post facto clause of the United States Constitution because he believes that the Wisconsin Constitution's ex post facto clause would not prohibit applying § 970.038

to him (Hull's brief at 6). But as this court has noted, in interpreting the Wisconsin Constitution's ex post facto clause, it looks to United States Supreme Court decisions interpreting the United States Constitution's ex post facto clause. *Singh*, 353 Wis. 2d 520, ¶ 9. Thus, if Hull proves a violation of the federal clause, he likely will have shown a violation of the state clause as well.

Beginning with Calder v. Bull, 3 U.S. 386, 390 (1798), the Supreme Court recognized that the ex post facto clause prohibits four types of criminal laws. See Carmell v. Texas, 529 U.S. 513, 522 (2000). They are laws that: (1) make actions criminal that were innocent when done, and punishes those actions; (2) aggravate a crime or make it greater than it was when committed; (3) change the punishment and inflict a greater punishment for a crime than when it was committed; and (4) alter the legal rules of evidence and receive less or different testimony than the law required at the time of commission of the offense in order to convict the defendant. Id. (citing Calder, 3 U.S. at 390).

Hull maintains that Wis. Stat. § 970.038 falls within the fourth type of law prohibited by the ex post facto clause (Hull's brief at 7-9). Additional legal principles establishing why this is not the case will be discussed in the next section.

В. Wisconsin Statute 970.038 is not an ex post facto law because it did not change the law to allow Hull to be convicted less on or different evidence than the law required at the time he allegedly assaulted SJH.

This court should conclude that Hull failed to meet his burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that applying Wis. Stat. § 970.038 at his preliminary hearing was an ex post facto violation.

Hull argues that both the court commissioner and the circuit court erred by concluding that Wis. Stat. § 970.038 did not fall under the fourth type of ex post facto law when they determined that because the law only made changes involving the admission of evidence at preliminary hearings, it did not change the legal requirements necessary to convict him of a crime at trial (Hull's brief at 7-8; 30:4-5; 41:4-6). Specifically, Hull contends that nothing in the fourth Calder category limits its application to trials, and notes that in order to eventually convict a defendant, the State needs to first show at a preliminary hearing that there is probable cause to believe that the committed a crime (Hull's brief at 7-8).

This argument is inadequate to establish an ex post facto violation beyond a reasonable doubt. The court commissioner and the circuit court were correct when they concluded that Wis. Stat. § 970.038 did not change what the law required the State to prove in order to convict Hull of the

sexual assault charges. A finding of probable cause at a preliminary hearing is not an element of the crimes of which Hull is accused. A "preliminary hearing as to probable cause is not a preliminary trial or a full evidentiary trial on the issue of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Schaefer, 2008 WI 25, ¶ 34, 308 Wis. 2d 279, 746 N.W.2d 457 (citation omitted). The change allowing the admission of hearsay at a preliminary hearing has nothing to do with what the State will have to prove to a fact-finder to convict Hull should he go to trial or the rules that will apply at that proceeding. Or, at least Hull has not anything establishing pointed to connection, and he has failed to carry his burden of proving an ex post facto violation.

Further, even assuming that Wis. Stat. § 970.038 has some connection to what the State must do to convict Hull, the statute still is not an ex post facto law because it does nothing more than make a certain type of evidence admissible at a preliminary hearing that had not previously been allowed. The Supreme Court has held that such statutes applied in the trial context do not violate the prohibition on ex post facto laws and similar changes involving preliminary hearings also do not present any constitutional problem.

For example, in *Hopt v. Utah*, 110 U.S. 574 (1884), *limited on other grounds as recognized in Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 342-43 (1970), the territory of Utah passed a statute making felons competent witnesses in criminal proceedings after the defendant committed his crime, but before his trial. *Id.* at 587-88. The Supreme Court rejected the defendant's argument that the statute was an ex post facto violation, stating "[s]tatutes which

simply enlarge the class of persons who may be competent to testify in criminal cases are not *ex post facto* in their application to prosecutions for crimes committed prior to their passage." *Id.* at 589. This is so because:

they do not attach criminality to any act previously done, and which was innocent when done, nor aggravate any crime theretofore committed, nor provide a greater punishment therefor than was prescribed at the time of its commission, nor do they alter the degree, or lessen the amount or measure, of the proof which was made necessary to conviction when the crime was committed.

Id.

The Court further stated there was no ex post facto violation because the crime with which the defendant was charged, the punishment for that crime, and the degree of proof needed to convict him all remained the same as when he violated the law. *Id.* at 589-90. It concluded:

Any statutory alteration of the legal rules of evidence which would authorize conviction upon less proof, in amount or degree, than was required when the offense was committed, might, in respect of that offense, be obnoxious to the constitutional inhibition upon *ex post facto* laws. But alterations which do not increase the punishment, nor change the ingredients of the offense or the ultimate facts necessary to establish guilt, but — leaving untouched the nature of the crime and the amount or degree of proof essential to conviction — only removes existing restrictions upon the competency of certain classes of persons as witnesses, relate to modes of procedure only, in which no one can be said to have a vested

right, and which the state, upon grounds of public policy, may regulate at pleasure.

*Id.* at 590.

Similarly, in Thompson v. Missouri 171 U.S. 380 (1898), the Court rejected an expost facto challenge to a statute allowing the admission of evidence comparing handwriting samples. Id. at 381-88. The law had not been in place when the defendant committed his crime, or at the time of his first trial. Id. at 381-82. The defendant was convicted at his first trial, but the Missouri Supreme Court reversed because it determined that handwriting sample comparison evidence had been improperly admitted against him. Id. at 380-82. The Missouri legislature then passed a law authorizing the admission of this evidence. *Id.* at 382. At the defendant's second trial, the State again submitted evidence comparing handwriting samples, and the defendant was convicted. Id. at 381-82.

The Court disagreed with the defendant that the new statute was an ex post facto law. It acknowledged that the defendant's argument had "apparent support in the general language" used to define ex post laws, specifically, the passage of *Calder* which prohibits "every law that alters the legal rules of evidence, and receives less or different testimony than the law required at the time of the commission of the offense in order to convict the offender." *Id.* at 382 (quoting *Calder*, 3 U.S. at 390. Nonetheless, the Court found no violation in *Thompson* because it could not "perceive any ground upon which to hold a statute to be ex post facto which does nothing more than admit evidence of a particular kind in a criminal case

upon an issue of fact which was not admissible under the rules of evidence as enforced by judicial decisions at the time the offense was committed." *Thompson*, 171 U.S. at 387.

Applying *Hopt* and *Thompson*, Hull's ex post facto challenge must fail. Even assuming Wis. Stat. § 970.038 has any impact on what the State must do to convict Hull, the statute, like those in Hopt and Thompson, permits the State to rely on a type of evidence to meet its burden at a preliminary hearing that it was not allowed to use when Hull allegedly committed his crimes. This does amount to an ex post facto violation because § 970.038 did not lessen the State's obligation to show probable cause at the preliminary hearing or increase the consequences Hull faced upon a successful bindover. As in *Thompson*, while Hull's argument has apparent support in the language of the fourth Calder category, upon examination, § 970.038 does nothing more – and because proof beyond a reasonable doubt is not at issue, quite possibly less – than the statutes the Supreme Court approved of in *Hopt* and *Thompson*. This court must reject Hull's ex post facto argument.<sup>1</sup>

¹ Hull also argues that before the passage of Wis. Stat. § 970.038, SJH would have had to testify at a preliminary hearing for the State to show probable cause and this somehow makes the statute as applied to him an ex post facto law (Hull's brief at 8). The State disagrees. While, given the facts of the case, SJH would perhaps have had to testify at the hearing before § 970.038 took effect, there is no categorical requirement that an alleged crime victim testify at a preliminary hearing such that it is a requirement for the State to convict a defendant. For example, a victim's statement might be admitted pursuant to a hearsay exception or another witness to the crime could testify to establish probable cause.

II. HULL WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SUBPOENA SJH TO TESTIFY AT THE PRELIMINARY HEARING BECAUSE HE WANTED TO ASK HER QUESTIONS ADDRESSING THE CREDIBILITY, NOT THE PLAUSIBILITY, OF HER ACCUSATIONS.

Hull also argues that he should have been allowed to subpoen SJH to testify at the preliminary hearing and the court commissioner erroneously "stopped the preliminary hearing after finding he had heard enough evidence to make a probable cause finding" (Hull's brief at 9). Both the court commissioner and the circuit court held that Hull was not entitled to subpoena SJH to testify at the preliminary hearing (30:5-7; 42:20-24). Because Hull's offer of proof about why he wanted SJH to testify revealed that he would have only questioned the credibility of her accusations rather than their plausibility, there was no error in quashing his subpoena.

"[T]he preliminary examination is intended to be a summary proceeding to determine essential or basic facts as to probability." Schaefer, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 34 (quoting *State v. Dunn*, 121 Wis. 2d 389, 396-97, 359 N.W.2d 151 (1984)) (internal omitted). quotation marks The iudge's responsibility is to determine the plausibility of accusations and whether thev bindover, not to delve into their credibility. Dunn, 121 Wis. 2d at 397. "A preliminary hearing is not a proper forum to choose between conflicting facts or inferences, or to weigh the state's evidence against evidence favorable to the defendant." Schaefer, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 34 (quoting Dunn,

121 Wis. 2d at 398). The hearing's purpose is to determine whether there is sufficient evidence for the charges to go forward. *Schaefer*, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 34 (citation omitted). Issues of the weight and credibility of evidence are matters for pretrial discovery and are outside the scope of a preliminary hearing. *O'Brien*, 354 Wis. 2d 753, ¶ 37 (citations omitted).

A defendant may introduce evidence at a preliminary hearing, including calling witnesses. *Schaefer*, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 35 (citing Wis. Stat. § 970.03(5)). A defendant is entitled to compulsory process to assure the appearance of such witnesses. *Id.* ¶ 34.

The defendant's right to call witnesses at a preliminary hearing is not unrestricted. *O'Brien*, 354 Wis. 2d 753, ¶ 37 (citing *State v. Knudson*, 51 Wis. 2d 270, 280, 187 N.W.2d 321 (1971)). While a defendant may subpoena witnesses for a preliminary hearing, the subpoena may be quashed if the defendant is unable to show the relevance of the testimony to rebut probable cause. *O'Brien*, 354 Wis. 2d 753, ¶ 37 (quoting *Schaefer*, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 37). Put another way, the defendant's right to call witnesses is limited to those who can rebut the plausibility of a witness's testimony and the probability that a felony has been committed. *Schaefer*, 308 Wis. 2d 279, ¶ 35 (citation omitted).

Hull argues that his explanation to the court commissioner in his response to the State's motion to quash his subpoena of SJH established that he was calling her to challenge the plausibility of her accusations, not their credibility (Hull's brief at 11-13). It does not. Instead, Hull's response contained a list of questions relating to the credibility of SJH's accusations, and the court commissioner correctly quashed Hull's subpoena.

In his response, Hull recited SJH's allegations in the complaint, then asserted "[i]t is implausible that a victim of forcible sexual assault by a stranger would not run away from the scene of the crime and/or report the crime immediately" (9:4). Hull then listed a series of questions he wanted to ask SJH:

- Did she scream for help when assaulted;
- Did she run out of the hotel room after the assault and ask for help;
- Did she have her cell phone with her;
- Did Hull prevent her from calling for help, waking up her father, or leaving the room;
- Did she have semen on her or her clothes;
- Did she have marks or contusions from the assault;
- Were those marks visible to others;
- Did she show these marks to her father when he said he did not believe her when she said Hull touched her;
- Why did she allegedly tell her father that Hull touched her rather than telling him that Hull sexually assaulted her;

• Why did she wait for a year to report the assault?

(9:4-5).

These questions plainly relate to the credibility of SJH's accusations. Hull wanted to ask questions challenging whether SJH was telling the truth that Hull assaulted her, not whether her allegations and the reasonable inferences from them, if believed, supported a finding of probable cause. See Dunn, 121 Wis. 2d at 397-98. While the line between credibility and plausibility can often be fine, see id. at 397, Hull's proposed questions are classic examples of questions challenging credibility because they go directly to the trustworthiness of SJH's allegations. See id. (quoted source omitted). Hull wanted to poke holes in SJH's account, not to show that it was possible that the essentially not assaults occurred. The court commissioner properly bound Hull over for trial without allowing him to call SJH to testify, and the circuit court correctly upheld this decision.

### **CONCLUSION**

Upon the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that this court affirm the circuit court's

order denying Hull's motion to dismiss the information.